#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**CASE NO. SC09-774** 

MARBEL MENDOZA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RACHEL L. DAY Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0068535

NEAL A. DUPREE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL - SOUTH 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A grand jury indicted Mr. Mendoza and two co-defendants, brothers Lazaro and Humberto Cuellar, for first-degree murder, conspiracy to commit robbery, attempted armed robbery, armed burglary with an assault, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony (R 1 - 4). The indictment was predicated on both premeditation and felony-murder theories. (R 1).

On May 20, 1993, Lazaro entered into a plea agreement in which he agreed to plead guilty to the lesser offense of manslaughter and to plead guilty as charged to the offenses of conspiracy to commit robbery and attempted armed robbery (TRT 196-205). He was sentenced to three concurrent terms of ten (10) years in prison (TRT 202). The plea agreement specifically stated that if Lazaro failed to perform any of the required conditions, he would be re-sentenced to twenty-seven (27) years in prison (TRT 199-200, 202). One of the required conditions was that Lazaro testify truthfully in depositions, trial, and all court hearings in the State's case against Mr. Mendoza (TRT 200). After Lazaro entered his plea and was sentenced, in October 1993, he swore under oath in his deposition that he, Humberto, and Mr. Mendoza went to Mr. Calderon's house to collect a debt from Mr. Calderon, **not** to commit a robbery. Lazaro also swore in his deposition that, both before and after the shooting, he never saw Mr. Mendoza with a gun. He also indicated that Mr. Calderon ran a *bolito* (gambling) operation.

On January 18, 1994, approximately two weeks before the start of Mr. Mendoza's trial, Humberto pleaded guilty to second-degree murder, as well as the remaining charges. (TRT 239-240), and was sentenced to twenty (20) years in prison (TRT 237). In exchange, Humberto agreed to testify against Mr. Mendoza (TRT 241, 1086). Humberto was also required to testify consistent with the State's attempted robbery theory. As with Lazaro's plea agreement, if the prosecution thought that Humberto did not testify "truthfully," then the agreement called for Humberto to be re-sentenced to more than the agreed upon twenty-year sentence (TRT 1118-9).

During opening statements of Mr. Mendoza's trial, Mr. Mendoza's trial counsel told the jury that the evidence would show that **Humberto** was the person who shot the victim, Mr. Calderon (TRT 610). Trial counsel also told the jury that the evidence would show that Mr. Mendoza and the two co-defendants did not confront Calderon in order to rob him but, instead, did so in an attempt to collect a debt (TRT 610, 611). To support this defense, counsel stated that **Lazaro Cuellar would testify** that there was no attempted robbery, and referred to the deposition. (TRT 607-08, 611-12). Trial counsel told the jury that the evidence would also show that gun-shot residue was found on both Humberto's and Lazaro's hands (TRT 608-09).

The State built its entire case on the testimony of co-defendant Humberto

Cuellar. Humberto testified that Mr. Mendoza approached him and asked him if he wanted to rob a person, who, according to Humberto's testimony, Mr. Mendoza said always had money on him because he was a "boletero" (TRT 1034). Humberto testified that he agreed to commit the robbery with Mr. Mendoza and at some point asked his brother, Lazaro, to be the driver (TRT 1035, 1038). According to Humberto, on several dates prior to the shooting, they drove by Mr. Calderon's house to learn his routine (TRT 1039, 1041).

Humberto testified that after Lazaro drove them to a location near Mr. Calderon's house, Humberto and Mr. Mendoza got out of the car when they saw Mr. Calderon exit the house (TRT 1047). When Mr. Calderon opened the door to his vehicle parked in the driveway, Humberto and Mr. Mendoza allegedly struggled with him until Humberto hit him on the head with a gun that Humberto had removed from Lazaro's car (TRT 1050). Other than Humberto's testimony, there was no evidence that Humberto was the person who hit Mr. Calderon over the head. Police had no fingerprints from the gun linking Humberto to the Taurus nine millimeter, the gun the State claimed was used to strike Mr. Calderon over the head. After the trial, the prosecutor told the court that Lazaro "had the gun" according to all his statements (TRT 830).

According to Humberto, after getting hit over the head with a gun, Mr. Calderon pulled out his own gun and fired three times, striking Humberto once

in the chest (TRT 1051). Humberto testified that once Mr. Calderon shot him, Humberto ran back to the car and that, while he was running back, he heard a few more shots (TRT 1052-53). Humberto claimed at trial that when Mr. Mendoza returned to the car shortly thereafter, Mr. Mendoza stated that he had shot the man (TRT 1055).<sup>1</sup>

After the State rested, the State conceded that it had failed to establish a prima facie case of premeditation (TRT 1157). Thus counsel knew that, in order to return a guilty verdict for first degree murder, the jury necessarily would have to find that Mr. Mendoza committed the underlying felonies.

Counsel for Mr. Mendoza called as the only defense witness, Mr. Gopinath Rao, an expert in gunshot particle analysis. At the time of trial, Mr. Rao was a criminalist for the Metro-Dade police Department (TRT 1165-66). Mr. Rao had conducted the particle analysis of hand swabs taken from Lazaro and Humberto while they were at the hospital on the morning after the shooting. Counsel for Mr. Mendoza elicited from Mr. Rao very significant exculpatory evidence in the form of Mr. Rao's expert opinion. Mr. Rao gave the opinion that, based upon his analysis of the particles found in the swab taken from Lazaro's hands, it was "more likely than not" that Lazaro Cuellar **fired** a gun as opposed to having simply

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Humberto's testimony directly contradicted Humberto's own statement to police that he passed out when he got in the car and did not even know if Mr. Mendoza got into the car afterward (R 326-7; TRT 1079-80)

"handled" a gun that had been fired (TRT 1205, 1207). Mr. Rao indicated that his opinion was specifically grounded on his assumption that Technician Gallagher swabbed Lazaro's hand **at 9:00 a.m.** (the shooting occurred at approx. 5:40 a.m.) (TRT 1181-83, 1200, 1207). In its rebuttal case, the State established the 9.00 am time to be incorrect.

Mr. Rao's opinion that Lazaro more than likely fired a gun as opposed to simply handled a gun that had been fired was significant because it strongly suggested that Lazaro–not Mr. Mendoza–shot Mr. Calderon. The State's theory was that particles were found on Lazaro's hands due to Lazaro's handling of the gun that was present at the scene but not fired and/or due to his contact with Humberto, who had been shot by Mr. Calderon. The State's star witness, Humberto, had testified that Lazaro–his brother–never got out of the car. Mr. Rao's opinion was exculpatory evidence that not only suggested that Mr. Mendoza did not shoot Mr. Calderon but, at the same time, also discredited Humberto's trial testimony.

On cross examination the State got Mr. Rao to agree that his opinion was "based on this time frame" (TRT 1208) and that, consequently, if he was wrong regarding the time, his entire opinion was "invalid" (TRT 1207). Then, in rebuttal, the State called Technician Gallagher as a rebuttal witness. Technician Gallagher confirmed that he swabbed Lazaro's hands at 7:45 a.m., not 9:00 a.m. (TRT 1282-

83). In closing arguments, the prosecutor attacked Mr. Rao's opinion, arguing that, because Rao incorrectly believed that Lazaro's hands were swabbed at 9:00 a.m., his opinion was invalid (TRT 1302, 1341). The prosecutor, Flora Seff, went even further and dramatically argued that Mr. Mendoza's trial counsel **knew** that Rao's was mistaken as to the time police swabbed Lazaro's hands and **deliberately presented false evidence** in a scandalous ploy to mislead and confuse the jury (TRT 1302-03, 1316, 1318, 1319).

The jury found Mr. Mendoza guilty of first-degree murder, conspiracy to commit robbery, attempted armed robbery, armed burglary with an assault, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony.

After the trial, the State filed a motion to vacate Lazaro's sentence for non-compliance with the terms of his plea agreement on the ground that his version of events as set forth in his sworn pretrial deposition constituted a violation of his plea agreement (i.e., that, per the State Attorney Office, he was not "truthful" in his pretrial deposition) (R 829-31; TRT 1444-5). In support of its motion to vacate Lazaro's sentence, the State emphasized that because Humberto's trial testimony contradicted Lazaro's version of events, the State did not call Lazaro as a witness (TRT 829-30). In the end, however, the court denied the State's motion on the grounds that the State waited too late to file the motion to vacate Lazaro's sentence (TRT 832). Also significant is the prosecutor's admission during the hearing to

vacate Lazaro's sentence that Lazaro indicated in all his statements that he "had the gun" (TRT 830).

The jury voted to recommend death by a vote of 7-5. The court sentenced Mr. Mendoza to death based upon two aggravating circumstances: prior violent felony and during the commission of a robbery and for pecuniary gain (merged) The trial court found no mitigating factors (R 956; TRT 1735). On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the conviction and sentence. Mendoza v. State, 700 So. 2d 670 (Fla. 1997). The Court specifically relied upon the trial court's rejection of these mitigating circumstances as a basis to conclude that the death penalty was not disproportionate. Id. at 678. Mr. Mendoza timely petitioned the United States Supreme Court for *certiorari*. This petition was denied on October 5, 1998. Mendoza v. Florida, 525 U.S. 839 (1998).

Mr. Mendoza filed his final amended motion for post-conviction relief on September 5, 2000 which was summarily denied on January 26, 2001.

On appeal, this Court remanded the case with orders for the lower court to conduct an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Mendoza's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Circuit Court, Judge Manuel Crespo in March, 2004. Judge Crespo entered an order denying relief on both claims. An appeal was taken to this Court who again remanded the case back to the Circuit Court, the Honorable Judge Dava Tunis, for another evidentiary

hearing in the light of Judge Crespo's death.. The hearing was held on June 9, 12, 13, 16, 17, and 18, 2008. At the hearing, Mr. Mendoza presented the testimony of trial counsel Arnaldo Suri and Barry Wax, psychiatrist Eugenio Rothe, M.D., neuropsychologist Ricardo Weinstein Ph.D.. molecular and cellular neuropharmacologist Deborah Mash Ph.D., trial psychologist Jethro Toomer, Ph.D., neurologist Thomas Hyde M.D., Ph.D., Cuba history expert Holly Ackerman, Ph.D., attorney expert Steven Potolsky, Esq., gunshot residue expert Celia Hartnett, and lay witnesses Beatriz Roman, Lazaro Cuellar, and Alexander Suarez. The State chose not to put on any rebuttal witnesses. The lower court entered an order on April 2, 2009 denying relief on both counts of ineffectiveness of trial counsel. (PCR3 1422-71) This appeal follows.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Argument I - Trial counsel rendered deficient performance that prejudiced Mr. Mendoza at his guilt phase. Because of their failure to investigate the case they presented mutually exclusive theories of the case to the jury, broke opening statement promises to the jury and failed to investigate the GSR evidence.

**Argument II** – Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance at Mr. Mendoza's penalty phase when they failed to investigate and present available mitigating evidence, opened the door to admission of evidence of other crimes, and put on the testimony of Humberto Cuellar, the State's star witness at the guilt

phase.

**Argument III** – Mr. Mendoza was denied a full and fair evidentiary hearing before a detached neutral judge.

#### **ARGUMENT I**

MR. MENDOZA WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE GUILT-INNOCENCE PHASE OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

#### A. Introduction

The jury's verdict finding Mr. Mendoza guilty of first-degree murder was predicated exclusively on the theory of felony-murder. Had Mr. Mendoza's trial counsel not rendered deficient performance, there is a reasonable probability that the jury would have concluded that the State failed to prove the existence of the alleged underlying felonies and, therefore, would have acquitted Mr. Mendoza of first-degree felony-murder. Because there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different had trial counsel not been deficient, Mr. Mendoza is entitled to a new trial.

Absent the testimony of the State's key witness, Humberto Cuellar, the State simply had no evidence to support the charge of first-degree felony murder. The physical evidence established that the victim, Mr. Calderon, himself fired his gun first and shot Humberto before the victim was shot. The physical circumstantial

evidence actually contradicted the State's robbery theory because the victim was found with the victim's bank bag containing a large amount of cash. Also, the victim was found still wearing his Rolex watch. The State presented absolutely no evidence that any property was taken from the victim. Other than Humberto's testimony, the State presented no evidence of the alleged underlying felonies. Conversely, given the lack of any other evidence to support the charge of first-degree felony murder, if the jury did not believe Humberto's testimony, the jury would have necessarily acquitted Mr. Mendoza. Had trial counsel not performed deficiently, there is more than a reasonable probability that the jury would not have returned a guilty verdict

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), the United States Supreme Court enumerated the now familiar principles that a convicted defendant must show both deficient performance and prejudice to establish a claim that his or her counsel rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance at trial. Deficient performance means that counsel's performance fell "below an objective standard of reasonableness" measured under "prevailing professional norms"

In order to show prejudice, a claimant must show that there is a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 521, 534,

536 (2003) (citations omitted). However to the extent that any purportedly "strategic" choices are the result of an incomplete or incompetent investigation, they cannot be considered reasonable. See Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 522. Applicable professional standards are set forth in the American Bar Association (ABA) Standards of Criminal Justice, "standards to which we have long referred as guides to determining what is reasonable." Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510 at 524.

<u>Wiggins</u> makes clear that the ABA Guidelines<sup>2</sup> supply the guide to what is reasonable in investigating a capital case.

Trial counsel lacked any meaningful experience in trying capital cases. Mr. Mendoza's counsel, Mr. Suri and Mr. Wax, had little to no experience trying capital cases. Prior to representing Mr. Mendoza, Mr. Suri had never tried a capital case (PCR3 1661). Mr. Wax's only previous capital case experience was a last minute assignment as second chair in the case of <u>State v. Bobby Robinson</u> (PCR 31764), which involved o no investigation, and in a re-sentencing in the case of <u>State v. Harry F. Phillips</u>. Thus Mr. Mendoza was burdened with two

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> American Bar Association Guidelines for the Appointment and Performance of Counsel in Death Penalty Cases (1989) (hereinafter "ABA Guidelines").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Significantly, Mr. Wax handled the re-sentencing for Mr. Phillips by himself with no co-counsel and did so during the period of time between Mr. Mendoza's guilt and penalty phases (PCR3 1765). He did not do the investigation for Mr. Phillips's new penalty phase, but relied on the work done by the post conviction counsel who had obtained the new penalty phase (PCR3 1766).

inexperienced lawyers, one of whom had an excessive workload which limited the amount of time available for Mr. Mendoza's representation.<sup>4</sup> While Mr. Suri had attended just one seminar on representing clients in death penalty cases (PCR3 1652), Mr. Wax had not attended any seminars on representing individuals facing the death penalty (PCR3 1788). Neither lawyer was at that time familiar with the ABA Guidelines (PCR3 1663, 1768).

Despite their lack of experience, counsel failed to utilize the services of either an investigator or a mitigation specialist for either the guilt-innocence of penalty phase investigation even though counsel obtained approval from the trial court to use county funds to do so (PCR3 1663). Counsel had no reasonable explanation as to why they did not use the available funds to enlist the assistance of an investigator and candidly admitted that looking back, it was "hard to understand" (PCR3 1663). The ABA Guidelines are clear that the defense team should include "at least one mitigation specialist and one fact investigator." Guideline 10.4 (C) (2) (a) (2003). Mr. Mendoza was afforded neither type of investigator despite counsel's complete lack of experience in this area.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Guideline 10.3 (2003) which sets forth counsel's obligations regarding workload states that "Counsel representing clients in death penalty cases should limit their caseloads to the level needed to ensure high quality legal representation in accordance with these Guidelines." Mr. Wax patently did not do this.

## B. Trial counsel asserted contradictory and inconsistent arguments to the jury as to the identity of the shooter

Counsel made contradictory and inconsistent representations to the jury as to who actually shot and killed the victim. During opening statements, trial counsel unequivocally represented to the jury that Humberto Cuellar was **the one who did the shooting. That's who Mr. Calderone shot.** (TRT 609-10) (emphasis added). Yet, in closing argument, without any explanation to the jury for the switch and without any asserted intervening reason for doing so, counsel completely flip-flopped and argued that **Lazaro** Cuellar was the person who shot the victim, because he "had gun powder residue all over his hands", and that he was "not in the car," and that Humberto Cuellar and his brother, who shot this man, the evidence tells you he shot this man, the evidence tells you they all lied and got away with it. (TRT 1327, 1328-29. 1332-33).<sup>5</sup>

\_

At the evidentiary hearing, counsel testified that their theory of the case was "that the evidence and the testimony would be unclear as to who the shooter was" (PCR 1679). If this had been the case, counsel could easily have framed his opening argument without specifying the identity of the shooter. However from the testimony of Rao and counsel's closing argument, it would appear that counsel changed the theory of the case from Humberto being the shooter to Lazaro being the shooter after Rao was cross examined by the State. As noted in Argument I D *infra*, this whole scenario could have been avoided if counsel had properly investigated criminalist Rao's parameters and assumptions and hired an independent gunshot residue expert. See Argument I D, *infra*. Similarly, had trial counsel met with Alexander Suarez, they would have learned that Humberto had admitted to being the shooter and blaming Mr. Mendoza. See Argument III B. 4., *infra*.

After the State rested, and in direct contradiction to Mr. Suri's earlier opening statement to the jury that **Humberto** shot Mr. Calderon, Mr. Wax announced on the record that, now, instead: "It's the defense theory of the case that Lazaro Cuellar shot and killed Conrado Calderon. (TRT 1225) (emphasis added).

Counsel's performance fell short of the ABA Guidelines, which as made clear by <u>Wiggins</u>, supply a norm as to what amounts to "reasonable" standards of representation in a capital case. Guideline 10.10.1 (2003) which deals with overall trial preparation makes it clear that counsel should formulate an internally consistent theory of the case; that will minimize inconsistencies between guilt and penalty phases. <u>See</u> ABA Guideline 10.10.1 (2003).

While counsel is exhorted to develop a theory of defense that is consistent between the guilt and the penalty phase, it is even more self evident that the theory should be consistent within the confines of the guilt phase. At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel could articulate absolutely no strategic reason for this

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