IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-774

MARBEL MENDOZA,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655

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

Here, the record does not clearly refute Judge Tunis' denial of Defendant's motion for disqualification. Defendant based his claim that Judge Tunis was biased on comments the judge made in ruling on the admissibility of evidence. (PCR3.

⁸ A trial court's ruling on the admission of evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Ray v. State*, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000).

1077-84) This Court has repeatedly held that such comments are not sufficient to satisfy even the standard for an initial motion for disqualification. *Waterhouse v. State*, 792 So. 2d 1176, 1194 (Fla. 2001); Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 979-81 (Fla. 2000); Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 659-60 (Fla. 2000); Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 481 (Fla. 1998).⁹ Since Defendant "does not satisfy the lower standard, he certainly does not satisfy the more stringent standard applied to a successive motion." *Kokal*, 901 So. 2d at 775. The denial of the motion should be affirmed.

Petitioner next asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in excluding Potolsky's testimony. As the courts of this state have long recognized, expert testimony on legal issues is not admissible. *Hildwin v. State*, 951 So. 2d 784, 791 (Fla. 2006); *In re Estate of Williams*, 771 So. 2d 7, 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); *Devin v. City of Hollywood*, 351 So. 2d 1022 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976); *Consolidated Mut. Ins. Co. v. Ramy*, 238 So. 2d 431, 431 (Fla. 3d DCA 1970). This is true because expert testimony is only admissible to assist a trier of fact under §90.702, Fla. Stat. *Hildwin*, 951 So. 2d at 791. In fact, Defendant conceded

⁹ Moreover, the motion was not filed until June 24, 2008, and complained about comments made on June 9, 2008 and June 13, 2008, more than 10 days earlier. As such, the motion was also untimely regarding these comments. *Waterhouse*, 792 So. 2d at 1193-94; Asay, 769 So. 2d at 980; *Rivera*, 717 So. 2d at 481 n.3.

that expert testimony on a legal issue would not be admissible below. (PCR3. 949, 2124) Whether counsel's actions were strategic is a factual question but whether that strategy was reasonable is a legal question. *Wood*, 2010 WL 173369 at *4, *5 (Jan. 20, 2010); *Casey v. State*, 969 So. 2d 1055, 1058 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007). Here, as a review of Mr. Potolsky's affidavit shows, Mr. Potolsky wanted to opine that counsel's actions were not reasonable. (PCR3. 1144-64) Given these circumstances, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in excluding this testimony.

Moreover, to the extent that Defendant asserts that Potolsky's could have been properly limited to testimony about the standard's for practice in Dade County at the time of trial, the lower court should still have not abused its discretion. Expert testimony is only admissible when it will assist the fact finder. Lynch v. State, 2 So. 3d 47, 80-82 (Fla. 2009); Angrand v. Key, 657 So. 2d 1146, 1149 (Fla. 1995). Here, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Potolsky's testimony would not assist it. As the lower court informed the parties during the hearing, it had been a defense attorney representing capital defendants before rising to the bench. (PCR3. 1950) Moreover, as a review of Potolsky's affidavit shows, his view of what the standard of practice merely involved a parroting of the ABA guidelines and this Court's rule

regarding the qualifications of counsel. (PCR3. 1144-64) Given these circumstances, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Potolsky's opinion would not assist it. It should be affirmed.

With regard to the exclusion of Ackerman's testimony, the lower court again did not abuse its discretion. Pursuant to §90.702, Fla. Stat., expert testimony is only admissible if "scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact in understanding the evidence or in determining a fact in issue." As this Court has held, this language imposes two requirements that must be satisfied before an expert witness may testify: (1) the subject matter of the expert's testimony must be beyond the common understanding of the fact finder and (2) it must assist the fact finding in determining a relevant issue. Jones v. State, 748 So. 2d 1012, 1025 (Fla. 1999); Buchman v. Seaboard Coast Line R.R. Co., 381 2d 229, 230 (Fla. 1980). In determining whether these So. elements are met, this Court has stated that a trial court should consider factors such as the experience, age and information about the fact finder and the facts of the case. Angrand, 657 So. 2d at 1149. Moreover, this Court has cautioned that an expert should not be permitted "merely to relay matters which are within the common experience of the [fact finder] or

to summarize what the expert has been told by lay witnesses." Id. Further, even when these principles are satisfied, a trial court will still not have abused its discretion in excluding the testimony if the undue prejudice outweighs the probative value of the evidence. Ramirez v. State, 810 So. 2d 836, 842 (Fla. 2001). The courts of this State have been particularly unwilling to admit expert testimony on the credibility of witnesses. Cunningham v. State, 801 So. 2d 244, 246-47 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001); Hitchcock v. State, 636 So. 2d 572, 574-75 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); Page v. Zordan, 564 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

Apply these principles, the lower court did not abuse its discretion. The opinion that Defendant asserts he wanted to elicit from Dr. Ackerman was that Defendant's account of his migration was consistent with the accounts of others. However, determining whether one witness's account of an event was consistent with other witnesses' accounts of the same event is not a matter that a fact finder needed the assistance of specialize knowledge to determine. *See Johnson v. State*, 393 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1980); *see also Williamson v. State*, 994 So. 2d 1000, 1018 (Fla. 2009)(Wells, J., concurring).

Further, it does not appear that such an opinion would have had any relevance to an issue presented in this case. This Court has recognized that evidence regarding the character of

individuals other than the defendant is not relevant mitigation. *Hill v. State*, 515 So. 2d 176, 177-78 (Fla. 1987). As such, presenting evidence that others had related experiences similar to what Defendant claimed would not have proved mitigation. Additionally, a review of the testimony that Defendant proffered at the evidentiary hearing shows that Defendant wanted Dr. Ackerman to do little more than relate what Defendant had told her. (PCR3. 2235-83) Given all of these circumstances, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in excluding Dr. Ackerman. It should be affirmed.

Defendant's reliance on Wiggins and the ABA guidelines do not compel a different result. In Wiggins, the Court did not cite to the ABA guidelines as an indication that evidence was admissible. Instead, they cited them in support of a conclusion that counsel's investigation of potential evidence was deficient. Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 524. In fact, the Court stated that it did not need to determine if the evidence at issue would have been admissible at trial because it was part of the record now. Id. at 536. Moreover, the Court has just held that it is not even proper to treat the ABA guidelines as rules that counsel must follow. Bobby, 130 S. Ct. at 17. Thus, it would be improper to treat them as rules of evidence that must be followed. The lower court should be affirmed.

Moreover, Defendant's claim that it would have been proper for Dr. Ackerman to recount his statement is also meritless. While Defendant is correct that §90.704, Fla. Stat. does not allow experts to rely on inadmissible information, his assertion that this then allows the admission of the information is incorrect. As this Court held in Linn v. Fossum, 946 So. 2d 1032, 1037-39 (Fla. 2006), the mere fact that an expert relied on information that was not admissible in evidence does not permit a party to admit the inadmissible information. Instead, this Court has stated that it expects experts to testify "that they formed their opinions in reliance on sources that contain inadmissible information without also conveying the substance of the inadmissible information." Id. at 1038-39. Thus, contrary to Defendant's argument, not permitting an expert to recount hearsay does not preclude an expert from relying on it. The lower court should be affirmed.

Further, while Defendant suggests that the information was admissible because it concerned the penalty phase and the hearsay rule is relaxed at the penalty phase, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the documents on this basis either. As this Court held in *Hitchcock v. State*, 578 So. 2d 685, 690 (Fla. 1990), "[w]hile the rules of evidence have been relaxed somewhat for penalty proceedings, they have not

been rescinded." Instead, this Court has held that for hearsay to be admissible, the opponent must have the fair opportunity to rebut the evidence. Marek v. State, 14 So. 3d 935, 996 (Fla. 2009). Thus, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting Defendant's argument that all hearsay was admissible at the penalty phase. Further, while Defendant now asserts that the State had a fair opportunity to rebut Dr. Ackerman's testimony about his statements, this is not true. This Court has held that the mere fact that the opponent had deposed a witness prior to trial and was able to call the witness himself does not provide a fair opportunity to rebut. Rodriguez v. State, 753 So. 2d 29, 44 (Fla. 2000). Here, Defendant is not even suggesting State could have deposed or called the hearsay that the declarant: Defendant himself. Thus, his assertion that the State had a fair opportunity to rebut his statements by questioning Dr. Ackerman or calling another expert should be rejected. Griffin v. State, 639 So. 2d 966, 970 (Fla. 1994). The lower court did not abuse its discretion in excluding this testimony. It should be affirmed.

Moreover, Defendant's assertion that Armstrong v. State, 862 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 2003), shows that this evidence is admissible is incorrect. First, he relies on a concurring opinion. Concurring opinions do not reflect the holding of the

Court and have no precedential value. *Miller v. State*, 980 So. 2d 1094 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008). Second, a review of even the concurring decision relied upon does not show that it mentions the admissibility of evidence or even how the evidence it cites was admitted. *Armstrong*, 862 So. 2d at 722-25. As such, this citation does not support Defendant's argument. The lower court should be affirmed.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court abused its in excluding testimony from Odalys Rojas because her testimony about what other people told her would not be offered for the truth of the matter asserted but merely to show that evidence was available. However, this Court has held that "[w]hen the only possible relevance of an out-of-court statement is directed to the truth of the matters stated by a declarant, the subject matter is classic hearsay even though the proponent of such evidence seeks to clothe such hearsay under a nonhearsay label." Keen v. State, 775 So. 2d 263, 274 (Fla. 2000). Here, while Defendant asserts that Rojas' testimony about the statements of others would only have been used to show that evidence was available, such testimony would only do so if one accepted as true Rojas' testimony about what the witnesses had said to her regarding the witnesses' knowledge of Defendant and their ability and willingness to appear in court at the time of trial.

This is amply illustrated by the record. As Defendant admitted in arguing the admissibility of Rojas' testimony and as the proffers of her testimony show, one of the main people whose statement Defendant wanted to present through Rojas was Defendant's mother. (PCR3. 2129-30, 1124-34, PCT2. 243 - 83) However, the availability of Defendant's mother for trial is not subject to dispute, as she testified at trial. (T. 863-76, 1491-1531) As such, Rojas' testimony about her statements would have proven nothing unless one accepted that the truth of those statements. Thus, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the statements would have been hearsay. See Banks v. State, 790 So. 2d 1094, 1098 (Fla. 2001). The lower court should be affirmed.¹⁰

Defendant next asserts that the lower court abused its discretion in excluding the testimony of Alexander Suarez. As the Court has recognized, a witness may not properly testify about a matter but invoke his Fifth Amendment right to preclude cross examination. *Mitchell*, 526 U.S. at 321, 322. As a result, it is proper to exclude a witness' testimony, where the witness invokes his Fifth Amendment right to refuse to answer pertinent questions on cross examination. *Sule v. State*, 968 So. 2d 99,

¹⁰ Moreover, witness availability is not a subject beyond the understanding of a trial judge, the fact finder in this case. As such, Rojas' opinion on this issue would not have been admissible. *See Johnson*, 393 So. 2d at 1072.

105-07 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007); see also United States v. Fuentez, 231 F.3d 700, 705-08 (10th Cir. 2000); Klein v. Harris, 667 F.2d 274, 289 (2d Cir. 1981). Moreover, as this Court has recognized, proper cross examination "is not confined to the identical details testified to in chief, but extends to its entire subject matter, and to all matters that may modify, supplement, contradict, rebut, or make clearer the facts testified to in chief." Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 196 (Fla. 1997)(quoting Geralds v. State, 674 So. 2d 96, 99 (Fla. 1996)). Moreover, it also includes questions regarding the credibility of the witness. Id. at 195-96.

Here, according to the proffer Defendant presented, he wanted Suarez to testify that he and Defendant got together every day and used excessive amounts of marijuana, cocaine and alcohol. (PCR3. 1842-50) However, Suarez invoked his Fifth Amendment right and refused to answer questions about the deliberate and planned crimes he committed with Defendant while they were allegedly using these drugs. (PCR3. 1515-18, 1615-18) As this Court has recognized, evidence of deliberate actions is direct rebuttal of a claim of intoxication. *See Owens v. State*, 986 So. 2d 534, 555 (Fla. 2008). As such, Suarez's testimony about this issue would not have been about a collateral issue, and the lower court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to

allow Suarez to testify. *Sule*, 968 So. 2d at 105-07. It should be affirmed.

In an attempt to avoid this result, Defendant appears to assert that the State should have been restricted to attacking Suarez's credibility under §90.610, Fla. Stat. However, as this acknowledged, the fact that Court has evidence may be inadmissible for one purpose does not make it inadmissible for all purposes. Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1, 6 (Fla. 1982). In fact, this Court has held that it is proper to allow the State to admit even beyond the mere fact that a witness has a number of prior convictions when the evidence is admitted for a purpose other than to impeach the character of the witness. Dessaure v. State, 891 So. 2d 455, 468-70 (Fla. 2004). Here, the State was not trying to elicit information about the facts of the other cases to show that Suarez was not a reliable witness because of his character under §90.608(3), Fla. Stat. Instead, the State was attempting to show that Defendant's ability to engage in deliberate actions was inconsistent with Suarez's testimony about the vast amount of intoxicants that Defendant was allegedly using at the time pursuant to §90.608(5), Fla. Stat. Given these circumstances, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in determining that the State was not limited by §90.610, Fla. Stat. It should be affirmed.

Even if the lower court had abused its discretion in refusing to allow Suarez to testify, any error was harmless. As Defendant admitted below, he was not arguing that Suarez would have been available to testify at trial. (PCR3. 352) However, counsel is not ineffective for failing to present witnesses who would not have been available at the time of trial. *White v. State*, 964 So. 2d 1278, 1286 (Fla. 2007). As such, Suarez's testimony could not have affected the outcome of the post conviction hearing.¹¹ *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The lower court should be affirmed.

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